CF Industries Holdings, Inc. Form 10-Q November 07, 2006

Large accelerated filer o

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549	
FORM 10-Q	
(Mark One)	
x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION ACT OF 1934	13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2006	
OR	
o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION ACT OF 1934	N 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
For the transition period from to	
Commission File Number: 001-32597	
CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.	
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)	
Delaware	20-2697511
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) One Salem Lake Drive	(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
Long Grove, Illinois	60047
(Address of principal executive offices)	(Zip Code)
(847) 438-9500	
(Registrant s telephone number, including area code)	
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports require of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the reto such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No o	
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an a accelerated filer and large accelerated filer in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange	

Accelerated filer O

1

Non-accelerated filer X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes o No x 55,162,101 shares of the registrant s common stock, \$0.01 par value per share, were outstanding at September 30, 2006.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I.	Financial Information		
	Item 1.	Financial Statements	
		Consolidated Statements of Operations	1
		Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)	2
		Consolidated Balance Sheets	3
		Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	4
		Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements	5
	Item 2.	Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and	
		Results of Operations	16
	Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	32
	Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	33
PART II.	Other Information		
	Item 6.	<u>Exhibits</u>	34

PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)

	Three months ended September 30, 2006 (in millions, except p	2005	Nine months end September 30, 2006	ed 2005
Net sales	\$ 378.0	\$ 359.4	\$ 1,443.3	\$ 1,445.4
Cost of sales	352.2	303.4	1,339.0	1,238.5
Gross margin	25.8	56.0	104.3	206.9
Selling, general and administrative	13.2	17.7	40.5	43.0
Other operating net	0.3	1.3	3.4	3.8
Operating earnings	12.3	37.0	60.4	160.1
Interest expense	0.5	3.0	2.5	13.5
Interest income	(3.8)	(3.9)	(9.3)	(11.6)
Loss on extinguishment of debt		28.3		28.3
Minority interest	4.8	6.3	27.1	18.7
Other non-operating net	(0.2)	0.1	(0.4)	
Earnings before income taxes	11.0	3.2	40.5	111.2
Income tax provision	3.7	94.6	15.2	137.4
Net earnings (loss)	\$ 7.3	\$ (91.4)	\$ 25.3	\$ (26.2)
Basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding	55.0		55.0	
Basic and diluted net earnings per share	\$ 0.13		\$ 0.46	
Post Initial Public Offering (IPO)* net loss, weighted average				
common shares outstanding, and net loss per share:				
(in millions, except per share amounts)				
Post-IPO net loss		\$ (99.5)		\$ (99.5)
Basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding		55.0		55.0
Basic and diluted net loss per common share		\$ (1.81)		\$ (1.81)

^{*} Covers the period from August 17, 2005 through September 30, 2005

See Accompanying Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (Unaudited)

	Three mont September 3 2006 (in millions)	2005	Nine months endo September 30, 2006	2005
Net earnings (loss)	\$ 7.3	\$ (91.4)	\$ 25.3	\$ (26.2)
Other comprehensive income (loss):				
Foreign currency translation adjustment no tax effect	(0.2) 1.1	0.8	0.8
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives net of taxes	(0.8) 43.8	(4.2)	44.7
Unrealized gain on securities net of taxes	0.1		0.2	
-	(0.9) 44.9	(3.2)	45.5
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$ 6.4	\$ (46.5) \$ 22.1	\$ 19.3

See Accompanying Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

	(Unaudited) September 30, 2006 (in millions, except share per share amounts)	December 31, 2005 and
Assets		
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 21.4	\$ 37.4
Short-term investments	284.0	179.3
Accounts receivable	86.5	52.8
Income taxes receivable		1.1
Inventories	241.4	251.1
Other	22.0	54.4
Total current assets	655.3	576.1
Property, plant and equipment net	603.2	630.1
Goodwill	0.9	0.9
Asset retirement obligation escrow account	11.4	
Other assets	21.0	21.0
Total assets	\$ 1,291.8	\$ 1,228.1
Liabilities and Stockholders Equity		
Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	\$ 145.9	\$ 171.6
Income taxes payable	1.3	
Customer advances	148.8	131.6
Deferred income taxes	9.0	5.8
Distributions payable to minority interest		18.7
Other	37.1	13.4
Total current liabilities	342.1	341.1
Notes payable	4.4	4.2
Deferred income taxes	7.7	8.4
Other noncurrent liabilities	115.0	104.9
Minority interest	41.8	13.6
Stockholders equity:		
Preferred stock \$0.01 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized		
Common stock \$0.01 par value, 500,000,000 shares authorized, 55,162,101 and 55,027,723		
shares outstanding	0.6	0.6
Paid-in capital	749.1	743.0
Retained earnings	41.7	19.7
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(10.6)	(7.4)
Total stockholders equity	780.8	755.9
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$ 1,291.8	\$ 1,228.1
Tom member and stoomforders oquity	Ψ 1,2,1.0	Ų 1,220.1

See Accompanying Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)

Operating Activities:				
Net earnings (loss)	\$ 25.3		\$ (26.2))
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:				
Loss on extinguishment of debt			28.3	
Minority interest	27.1		18.7	
Depreciation, depletion and amortization	70.3		76.4	
Deferred income taxes	5.3		133.2	
Stock compensation expense	6.1		1.9	
Unrealized loss on derivatives	21.3			
Changes in:				
Accounts receivable	(30.8)	(14.2)
Margin deposits	16.8		18.6	
Inventories	10.5		25.8	
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	(21.5)	(2.7)
Product exchanges net	13.7		(7.7)
Customer advances net	17.2		(28.2)
Other net	2.0		(1.5)
Net cash provided by operating activities	163.3		222.4	
Investing Activities:				
Additions to property, plant and equipment net	(41.1)	(53.8)
Purchases of short-term investments	(629.5)	(606.7)
Sales and maturities of short-term investments	524.8		698.9	
Deposit to asset retirement obligation escrow account	(11.1)		
Proceeds from sale of unconsolidated subsidiary	(18.6	
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	(156.9)	57.0	
Financing Activities:	(22 31)			
Payments of long-term debt			(254.8)
Debt prepayment penalty			(26.4)
Distributions to minority interest	(19.0)	(5.7)
Dividends paid on common stock	(3.3	_	(017	,
Exchange of stock	(0.0		(715.4)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock			715.4	,
Other net			(2.6)
Net cash used in financing activities	(22.3)	(289.5)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	(0.1		0.5	,
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents	(16.0	,	(9.6)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	37.4		50.0	,
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 21.4		\$ 40.4	

See Accompanying Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Background and Basis of Presentation

We are one of the largest manufacturers and distributors of nitrogen and phosphate fertilizer products in North America. Our operations are organized into two business segments: the nitrogen fertilizer business and the phosphate fertilizer business. Our principal products in the nitrogen fertilizer business are ammonia, urea and urea ammonium nitrate solution (UAN). Our principal products in the phosphate fertilizer business are diammonium phosphate (DAP) and monoammonium phosphate (MAP). Our core market and distribution facilities are concentrated in the midwestern U.S. grain-producing states. Our principal customers are cooperatives and independent fertilizer distributors.

Our principal assets include:

- the largest nitrogen fertilizer complex in North America (Donaldsonville, Louisiana);
- a 66% economic interest in the largest nitrogen fertilizer complex in Canada (which we operate in Medicine Hat, Alberta, through Canadian Fertilizers Limited (CFL), a consolidated variable interest entity);
- one of the largest integrated ammonium phosphate fertilizer complexes in the United States (Plant City, Florida);
- the most-recently constructed phosphate rock mine and associated beneficiation plant in the United States (Hardee County, Florida); and
- an extensive system of terminals, warehouses and associated transportation equipment located primarily in the midwestern United States.

All references to CF Holdings, the Company, we, us and our refer to CF Industries Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries, including CF Industries, Inc. after the reorganization transaction described below, except where the context makes clear that the reference is only to CF Holdings itself and not its subsidiaries. All references to CF Industries refer to CF Industries, Inc. and its subsidiaries, except where the context makes clear that the reference is only to CF Industries itself and not its subsidiaries.

CF Holdings was formed in April 2005 to hold the existing business of CF Industries. Prior to August 17, 2005, CF Industries operated as a cooperative and was owned by eight regional agricultural cooperatives (pre-IPO owners). On August 16, 2005, we completed our initial public offering of common stock (IPO). We sold 47,437,500 shares of our common stock in the IPO and received net proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions, of approximately \$715.4 million. In connection with the IPO, we consummated a reorganization transaction in which CF Industries ceased to be a cooperative and became our wholly-owned subsidiary. In the reorganization transaction, all of the equity interests in CF Industries were cancelled in exchange for all of the proceeds of the IPO and 7,562,499 shares of our common stock. We did not retain any of the proceeds from the IPO. The reorganization transaction did not result in a new basis of accounting for the Company.

The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005 and in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States for interim financial reporting. In the opinion of management, these statements reflect all adjustments, consisting only of normal and recurring adjustments that are necessary for the fair representation of the information for the periods presented. These statements should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and related disclosures in our Form 10-K filed with the United States Securities and Exchange

Commission (SEC) on March 20, 2006. Operating results for any period presented apply to that period only and are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period.

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation.

In the unaudited consolidated statements of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005, net gains on disposals of long-lived assets were reclassified from other non-operating-net to other operating-net. These reclassifications had no impact on previously reported net earnings (loss).

In the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2005 and for subsequent periods, we have reported amounts owed to and due from product exchange counterparties in current assets and current liabilities on a gross basis rather than net in inventory. On the unaudited consolidated statement of cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2005, corresponding adjustments have been made to inventory and product exchanges-net. These reclassifications had no impact on previously reported cash flow from operations.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

For a discussion of the Company s significant accounting policies, refer to our 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K as of and for the year-ended December 31, 2005, filed with the SEC on March 20, 2006.

3. New Accounting Standards

Following are summaries of recently issued accounting pronouncements that are either currently applicable or may become applicable to our consolidated financial statements.

- Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 06-03 How Sales Tax Collected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should be Presented in the Income Statement (That is, Gross versus Net Presentation). This EITF Issue clarifies that the presentation of taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities on a gross (included in revenues and costs) or net (excluded from revenues) basis is an accounting policy decision that should be disclosed pursuant to Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 22 Disclosure of Accounting Policies. The EITF Issue is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2007. We have not yet determined the impact of this EITF Issue on our consolidated financial statements.
- Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation (FIN) No. 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes. This Interpretation clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS or Statement) No. 109 Accounting for Income Taxes. The Interpretation prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. It also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. The Interpretation is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2007. We have not yet determined the impact of this Interpretation on our consolidated financial statements.
- FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. AUG AIR-1 Accounting for Planned Major Maintenance Activities. This FSP prohibits the use of accrue-in-advance method of accounting for planned major maintenance activities in annual and interim financial reporting periods. This FSP is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2007 and must be applied retrospectively for all financial statements presented. We have not yet determined the impact of this FSP on our consolidated financial statements.

- SFAS No. 155 Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments. This standard amends the guidance in SFAS No. 133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, and SFAS No. 140 Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. This Statement allows financial instruments that have embedded derivatives to be accounted for as a whole (eliminating the need to bifurcate the derivative from its host) as long as the entire instrument is valued on a fair value basis. This Statement also clarifies other specific SFAS No. 133 and SFAS No. 140 related issues. This Statement will be effective for the Company in accounting for all financial instruments acquired or issued on or after January 1, 2007. We have not yet determined the impact of this Statement on our consolidated financial statements.
- SFAS No. 156 Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets An Amendment of FASB Statement No. 140 Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. This Statement requires an entity to recognize a servicing asset or servicing liability each time it undertakes an obligation to service a financial asset by entering into a servicing contract in certain situations. This Statement is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2007. We have not yet determined the impact of this Statement on our consolidated financial statements.
- SFAS No. 157 Fair Value Measurements. This Statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This Statement does not require any new fair value measurements; however, for some entities, the application of this statement may change current practice. This Statement is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2008. We have not yet determined the impact of this Statement on our consolidated financial statements.
- SFAS No. 158 Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R). This Statement requires an entity to recognize the funded status of benefit plans as assets and / or liabilities on the balance sheet, recognize gains and losses, prior service costs or credits, and transition assets or obligations in other comprehensive income, measure the defined benefit plan assets and obligations as of the date of the employer s fiscal year-end balance sheet and provide disclosure in the notes of the effects of the amortization of amounts included in other comprehensive income on the next fiscal year s periodic benefit cost. The recognition provisions of this Statement are effective for our December 31, 2006 fiscal year-end. The measurement provisions of the Statement will have no impact on our consolidated financial statements, as our plan assets and benefit obligations are currently measured as of year-end. This Statement will have no impact on our Consolidated Statements of Operations, but could have a material impact on our December 31, 2006 Consolidated Balance Sheet.
- SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) 108, Section N to Topic 1 Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements. This SAB requires the evaluation of prior year misstatements using both the balance sheet approach and the income statement approach. In the year of initial adoption, should either approach result in quantifying an error that is material in light of quantitative and qualitative factors, SAB 108 guidance allows for a one-time cumulative-effect adjustment to beginning retained earnings. In years subsequent to adoption, previously undetected misstatements deemed material shall result in the restatement of previously issued financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 154 Accounting Changes and Error Corrections. The guidance in this SAB is effective for the Company s December 31, 2006 fiscal year-end. We have not yet determined the impact of this SAB on our consolidated financial statements.

4. Net Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Prior to the consummation of our August 2005 IPO, CF Holdings did not have any activities or operations. Therefore, with the exception of stockholders equity and per share amounts, management believes that the current financial statements of CF Holdings are comparable to the historical financial statements of CF Industries. The table below presents the weighted average shares outstanding and net earnings (loss) per share information on an actual basis for periods subsequent to our IPO, and on a pro forma basis giving effect to the IPO and related reorganization transaction assuming that they had occurred as of December 31, 2004.

The net earnings (loss) per share and pro forma net loss per share were computed as follows:

	Three months ended September 30,		Nine months ended September 30,		
	Actual 2006	Pro forma 2005 as, except per share :	Post-IPO 2005*	Actual 2006	Pro forma 2005
Net earnings (loss) available to to common shareholders	\$ 7.3	\$ (91.4)	\$ (99.5)	\$ 25.3	\$ (26.2)
Basic and diluted weighted average common shares	Ψ 7.3	ψ ()1.+)	ψ ()).5)	Ψ 23.3	ψ (20.2)
outstanding	55.0	55.0	55.0	55.0	55.0
Basic and diluted net earnings (loss) per common share	\$ 0.13	\$ (1.66)	\$ (1.81)	\$ 0.46	\$ (0.48)

^{*} Covers the period beginning August 17, 2005 and ending September 30, 2005.

The 2005 post-IPO diluted loss per share calculation excludes 1,223 shares of restricted stock because the effect of their inclusion would be antidilutive. The antidilution occurs because the application of dilutive potential common shares to a net loss results in a smaller loss per share.

5. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

CF Industries and its Canadian subsidiary both maintain noncontributory, defined-benefit pension plans. The U.S. pension plan is a closed plan. We also provide group insurance to our retirees. Until age 65, retirees are eligible to continue to receive the same Company-subsidized medical coverage provided to active employees. When a retiree reaches age 65, medical coverage ceases.

Net pension/retiree medical expense included the following components:

	Pension Pla Three Mon Ended September 2006 (in millions	ths 30, 2005	Nine Months Ended September 30 2006), 2005	Retiree M Three Mo Ended Septembe 2006	nths	Nine Mon Ended Septembe 2006	
Service cost for benefits earned during the								
period	\$ 1.8	\$ 1.6	\$ 5.3	\$ 4.9	\$ 0.4	\$ 0.3	\$ 1.0	\$ 0.9
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation	3.1	2.9	9.4	8.9	0.4	0.3	1.2	1.2
Expected return on plan assets	(3.5)	(3.5)	(10.4)	(10.4)				
Amortization of transition obligation					0.1	0.1	0.3	0.3
Amortization of prior service cost		0.1	0.1	0.2				
Actuarial loss	0.7	0.2	2.0	1.0	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.3
Net expense	\$ 2.1	\$ 1.3	\$ 6.4	\$ 4.6	\$ 1.0	\$ 0.8	\$ 2.8	\$ 2.7

In addition to our qualified defined benefit pension plans, we also maintain nonqualified supplemental pension plans for highly compensated employees as defined under federal law and a closed plan in which no current employees are eligible to participate. We recognized expense for these plans of \$0.4 million and \$0.6 million, respectively, for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, and \$1.1 million and \$0.7 million, respectively, for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005.

6. Income Taxes

The income tax provisions recorded for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were determined in accordance with the requirements of SFAS No. 109 Accounting for Income Taxes, APB Opinion No. 28 Interim Financial Reporting and FASB Interpretation No. 18 Accounting for Income Taxes in Interim Periods.

For the three months ended September 30, 2005, the income tax provision of \$94.6 million consists of the following items: income tax expense of \$1.8 million on earnings before income taxes (which includes additional expense of \$0.5 million related to a year-to-date effective tax rate adjustment, primarily resulting from IPO costs that are not deductible for tax purposes); a charge of \$99.9 million to establish a valuation allowance, as discussed further below; a tax benefit of \$1.0 million for adjustments to prior years tax returns; and a tax benefit of \$6.1 million relating to a Canadian income tax refund that resulted from the application of an exemption under the Canada/United States tax treaty. For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, the income tax provision of \$137.4 million consists of the following items: income tax expense of \$44.1 million on earnings before income taxes; a charge of \$99.9 million for the valuation allowance; a tax benefit of \$0.5 million for adjustments to prior years tax returns; and the Canadian income tax refund of \$6.1 million.

On August 16, 2005, we completed our IPO and related reorganization, and CF Industries ceased to be a cooperative for income tax purposes. On that date, CF Industries had a deferred tax asset totaling \$99.9 million related to net operating loss carryforwards (NOLs) generated from business conducted with CF Industries pre-IPO owners when CF Industries was a cooperative for income tax purposes. Concurrent with the IPO, a 100% valuation allowance was established related to these NOLs due to substantial uncertainty under existing tax law as to the Company s ability to realize any tax benefits from these NOLs due to CF Industries ceasing to be a cooperative. The valuation allowance resulted in the \$99.9 million charge, which is included in the income tax provisions for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005.

In connection with our IPO, we entered into an NOL agreement with the pre-IPO owners of CF Industries which provides that in the event that it is finally determined by the applicable taxing jurisdictions that CF Industries pre-IPO NOLs can be utilized, we will pay the pre-IPO owners an amount equal to the federal and state income taxes saved by the utilization of the pre-IPO NOLs. For further details and information on the NOL agreement, see Item. 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data., Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Note 12 Income Taxes and Note 30 Related Party Transactions, Net Operating Loss Carryforwards, in our Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 20, 2006.

7. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

	September 30, 2006 (in millions)	December 31, 2005
Fertilizer	\$ 179.7	\$ 196.1
Spare parts, raw materials and supplies	61.7	55.0
	\$ 241.4	\$ 251.1

8. Asset Retirement Obligations

We account for asset retirement obligations (AROs) in accordance with SFAS No. 143 Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations. An ARO is a legal obligation associated with the retirement of long-lived assets that results from the acquisition, construction, development or normal operation of such assets.

In 2005, FASB Interpretation (FIN) No. 47 Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations (conditional AROs) was issued. FIN No. 47 provided guidance regarding when an entity would have sufficient information to reasonably estimate the fair value of an ARO. In the fourth quarter of 2005, we adopted FIN No. 47 and recorded a \$4.6 million (\$2.8 million, after taxes) charge for the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.

The AROs related to our phosphogypsum stack systems in Florida are subject to financial assurance requirements. The purpose of these requirements is to assure the State of Florida that sufficient funds will be available to cover costs related to the closure and post-closure care for these AROs.

In March 2006, we established an escrow account for the benefit of the Florida Department of Environmental Protection as a means of taking advantage of a safe harbor provision in a 2005 amendment to Florida s regulations pertaining to financial assurance requirements for the closure of phosphogypsum stacks and contributed \$11.1 million to this account. The balance in this account is reported as an asset at fair value on our consolidated balance sheet.

Over the next ten years, we expect to contribute to the escrow account between \$2 million and \$8 million annually, based upon the required funding formula, the present value of our estimated liability as defined in the regulations, and an assumed rate of return of 4% on funds invested in the escrow account. The amount that will have accumulated in the account by the end of the ten-year period, including investment earnings, is currently expected to be approximately \$85 million. After the initial ten years, contributions to the account are expected to average approximately \$0.4 million annually for the following 17 years. The balance in the account is projected to be approximately \$170 million by 2032. The annual contributions to the account are based on predetermined funding requirements as prescribed by the State of Florida; therefore, contributions to the account will differ from amounts recognized as expense in our financial statements. Ultimately, the cash in the escrow account will be used to complete settlement of the AROs related to our phosphogypsum stack systems. We will retain a residual interest in any funds remaining in the escrow account after all claims have been paid.

9. Credit Agreement

Our senior secured revolving credit facility (the credit facility) with JPMorgan Chase provides up to \$250 million, subject to a borrowing base, for working capital and general corporate purposes, including up to \$50 million for the issuance of letters of credit. As of September 30, 2006 there was \$199.6 million of available credit, based on the borrowing base, and there were no loans or letters of credit outstanding under the credit facility.

The credit facility is guaranteed by CF Holdings and certain of the domestic subsidiaries of CF Industries (the Loan Parties). The credit facility is secured by substantially all of the personal property and assets, both tangible and intangible, of the Loan Parties, 100% of the equity interests of each Loan Party s direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries other than immaterial subsidiaries, 65% of the equity interests of each Loan Party s first-tier foreign subsidiaries and the real property located in Donaldsonville, Louisiana.

10. Derivative Financial Instruments

We use natural gas in the manufacture of nitrogen fertilizer products. Because natural gas prices are volatile, our Natural Gas Acquisition Policy includes the objective of providing protection against significant adverse natural gas price movements. We manage the risk of changes in gas prices through the use of physical gas supply contracts and derivative financial instruments covering periods not exceeding three years. The derivative instruments that we currently use are primarily swaps. These contracts reference primarily NYMEX futures contract prices, which represent fair value at any given time. The contracts are traded in months forward and settlements are scheduled to coincide with anticipated gas purchases during those future periods. We use derivative instruments primarily to lock in a substantial portion of our margin on sales under the forward pricing program. We also establish natural gas derivative positions that are associated with anticipated natural gas requirements unrelated to our forward pricing program.

Until the fourth quarter of 2005, we designated our gas derivatives as cash flow hedges, whereby the derivatives were recorded at fair value on the balance sheet as assets and liabilities with any changes in fair value recorded initially in other comprehensive income (OCI). Unrealized gains or losses on effective cash flow hedges were deferred in OCI until the inventory manufactured with the hedged natural gas was sold and released to cost of sales.

During the second half of 2005, volatility in the natural gas environment increased our uncertainty regarding future operating rates and required that we increase our flexibility in product sourcing decisions. This increased flexibility in sourcing reduced our ability to predict future natural gas requirements with a high degree of certainty and led us to discontinue hedge accounting beginning in the fourth quarter of 2005. Changes in the fair value of the derivatives not designated as hedges are recorded in cost of sales as the changes occur. We continue to use natural gas derivatives, primarily as an economic hedge of gas price risk, but without the application of hedge accounting for financial reporting purposes. Cash flows related to natural gas derivatives are reported as cash flows from operating activities.

For the three months ended September 30, 2006, we recorded directly to cost of sales net derivative losses of \$14.7 million, consisting of \$1.7 million in realized losses and \$13.0 million of unrealized mark-to-market losses. For the nine months ended September 30, 2006, we recorded directly to cost of sales derivative losses of \$70.3 million, consisting of \$49.0 million in realized losses and \$21.3 million of unrealized mark-to-market losses.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005, we recorded directly to cost of sales ineffective hedge gains of \$14.1 million and \$14.6 million, respectively, primarily due to forward positions terminated in the third quarter of 2005 as a result of reductions in operating levels and related gas purchases when hedge accounting was still being applied.

At September 30, 2006, we had unrealized losses of \$27.9 million on 14.1 million MMBtus of gas swap contracts. At December 31, 2005, we had unrealized losses of \$0.5 million on 14.1 million MMBtus of gas, primarily in swap contracts.

11. Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Stockholders equity includes accumulated other comprehensive loss, which consists of the following components:

	Foreign Currency Translation Adjustment (in millions)	Unrealized Gain on Securities	Unrealized Gain on Derivatives	Minimum Pension Liability Adjustment	Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
Balance at December 31, 2005	\$ (2.9)	\$ 0.1	\$ 4.7	\$ (9.3)	\$ (7.4)
Net change	0.8	0.2	(4.2)		(3.2)
Balance at September 30, 2006	\$ (2.1)	\$ 0.3	\$ 0.5	\$ (9.3)	\$ (10.6)

The unrealized gain on derivatives is related to natural gas derivatives that existed at the time hedge accounting was discontinued in the fourth quarter of 2005. The amount shown as net change in OCI was reclassified into earnings in the first nine months of 2006. The balance at September 30, 2006 is expected to be reclassified into earnings during the fourth quarter of 2006. See Note 10 for additional information on derivatives.

12. Contingencies

Litigation

From time to time, we are subject to ordinary, routine legal proceedings related to the usual conduct of our business, including proceedings regarding public utility and transportation rates, environmental matters, taxes and permits relating to the operations of our various plants and facilities. Based on the information available as of the date of this filing, we believe that the ultimate outcome of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Environmental

In December 2004 and January 2005, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) inspected our Plant City, Florida phosphate fertilizer complex to evaluate the facility—s compliance with the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA), the federal statute that governs the generation, transportation, treatment, storage and disposal of hazardous wastes. This inspection was undertaken as a part of a broad enforcement initiative commenced by the EPA to evaluate whether mineral processing and mining facilities, including, in particular, all wet process phosphoric acid production facilities, are in compliance with RCRA, and the extent to which such facilities—waste management practices have impacted the environment.

By letter dated September 27, 2005, EPA Region 4 issued to the Company a Notice of Violation (NOV) and Compliance Evaluation Inspection Report. The NOV and Compliance Evaluation Inspection Report alleged a number of violations of RCRA, including violations relating to recordkeeping, the failure to properly make hazardous waste determinations as required by RCRA, and alleged treatment of sulfuric acid waste without a permit. The most significant allegation in the NOV is that the Plant City facility s reuse of phosphoric acid process water (which is otherwise exempt from regulation as a hazardous waste) in the production of ammoniated phosphate fertilizer, and the return of this process water to the facility s process water recirculating system, have resulted in the disposal of hazardous waste into the system without a permit. The Compliance Evaluation Inspection Report indicates that as a result, the entire process water system, including all pipes, ditches, cooling ponds and gypsum stacks, could be regulated as hazardous waste management units under RCRA.

Several of our competitors have received NOVs making this same allegation. This particular recycling of process water is common in the industry and, the Company believes, was authorized by the EPA in 1990.

The Company also believes that this allegation is inconsistent with recent case law governing the scope of the EPA s regulatory authority under RCRA. If the EPA s position is eventually upheld, the Company could incur material expenditures in order to modify its practices, or it may be required to comply with regulations applicable to hazardous waste treatment, storage or disposal facilities. If the Company is required to comply with such obligations, it could incur material capital and operating expenditures or may be required to cease operation of the water recirculating system if it is determined that it does not meet RCRA standards. This would cause a significant disruption of the operations of the Plant City facility.

The NOV indicated that the Company is liable for penalties up to the statutory maximum (for example, the statutory maximum per day of noncompliance for each violation that occurred after March 15, 2004 is \$32,500 per day). Although penalties of this magnitude are rarely, if ever, imposed, the Company is at risk of incurring substantial civil penalties with respect to these allegations. In order to obtain an order or judgment for civil penalties, the EPA will have to bring a civil or administrative enforcement proceeding against the Company. The EPA has referred this matter to the United States Department of Justice (DOJ) for enforcement. The Company has entered into discussions with the DOJ; however, the Company does not know if this matter will be resolved prior to the commencement of litigation by the United States.

In connection with the RCRA enforcement initiative, the EPA collected samples of soil, groundwater and various waste streams at the Plant City facility. The analysis of the split samples collected by the Company during the EPA s inspection did not identify hazardous waste disposal issues impacting the site. The EPA s sampling results appear to be consistent with the Company s results. Pursuant to a 1992 consent order with the State of Florida, the Company captures and reuses groundwater that has been impacted as a result of the former operation of an unlined gypsum stack at the site. Although the Company believes that it has fully evaluated and is remediating the impacts resulting from its historic activities, we do not know whether the EPA will require us to undertake additional environmental investigations at this facility. In addition, we understand that the EPA may decide to inspect our Bartow, Florida property, where we formerly manufactured phosphoric acid. The EPA has requested and the Company has provided copies of existing monitoring data for this facility. Depending on the conclusions that the EPA reaches after reviewing this data, the EPA may require that an investigation of environmental conditions be undertaken at the Bartow facility.

We are subject to a variety of environmental laws and regulations in all jurisdictions in which we operate. When it is probable that environmental liabilities exist and when reasonable estimates of such liabilities can be made, we have established associated reserves. These estimated liabilities are subject to change as additional information becomes available regarding the magnitude and timing of possible cleanup costs, the relative expense and effectiveness of alternative clean-up methods, and other possible liabilities associated with such situations. However, based on the information available as of the date of this filing, we believe that any additional costs that may be incurred as more information becomes available will not have a material adverse effect on the Company s financial position, although such costs could have a material effect on the Company s results of operations or cash flows in a particular period.

13. Segment Disclosures

We are organized and managed based on two segments, which are differentiated primarily by their products, the markets they serve and the regulatory environments in which they operate. The two segments are the nitrogen and phosphate fertilizer businesses.

Segment data for sales, cost of sales and gross margin for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, and assets at September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005 are as follows. Other assets include amounts attributable to the corporate headquarters and unallocated corporate assets.

	Nitrogen (in millions)	Phosphate	Consolidated
Operating Results			
Three Months Ended September 30, 2006			
Net sales			
Anhydrous ammonia	\$ 41.7	\$	\$ 41.7
Granular urea	132.6		132.6
UAN solutions	85.6		85.6
DAP		87.2	87.2
MAP		30.3	30.3
Other	0.6		0.6
	260.5	117.5	378.0
Cost of sales	250.9	101.3	352.2
Gross margin	\$ 9.6	\$ 16.2	\$ 25.8
Three Months Ended September 30, 2005			
Net sales			
Anhydrous ammonia	\$ 43.9	\$	\$ 43.9
Granular urea	137.5		137.5
UAN solutions	76.0		76.0
DAP		77.2	77.2
MAP		23.9	23.9
Other	0.9		0.9
	258.3	101.1	359.4
Cost of sales	213.3	90.1	303.4
Gross margin	\$ 45.0	\$ 11.0	\$ 56.0

	Nitrogen (in millions)	Phosphate	Consolidated
Operating Results			
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006			
Net sales			
Anhydrous ammonia	\$ 305.6	\$	\$ 305.6
Granular urea	487.9		487.9
UAN solutions	285.0		285.0
DAP		287.9	287.9
MAP		72.9	72.9
Other	4.0		4.0
	1,082.5	360.8	1,443.3
Cost of sales	1,015.8	323.2	1,339.0
Gross margin	\$ 66.7	\$ 37.6	\$ 104.3
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005			
Net sales			
Anhydrous ammonia	\$ 318.6	\$	\$ 318.6
Granular urea	482.8		482.8
UAN solutions	306.3		306.3
DAP		263.8	263.8
MAP		70.1	70.1
Other	3.8		3.8
	1,111.5	333.9	1,445.4
Cost of sales	932.2	306.3	1,238.5
Gross margin	\$ 179.3	\$ 27.6	\$ 206.9

	Nitrogen (in millions)	Phosphate	Other	Consolidated	
Assets					
September 30, 2006	\$ 459.0	\$ 406.9	\$ 425.9	\$ 1,291.8	
December 31, 2005	\$ 515.6	\$ 398.0	\$ 314.5	\$ 1.228.1	

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of our 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K as well as Item 1, Financial Statements, in this Form 10-Q. All references to CF Holdings, we, us and our refer to CF Industries Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries, including CF Industries, Inc. except where the context makes clear that the reference is only to CF Holdings itself and not its subsidiaries.

Overview

We are one of the largest manufacturers and distributors of nitrogen and phosphate fertilizer products in North America. Our operations are organized into two business segments: the nitrogen fertilizer business and the phosphate fertilizer business. Our principal products in the nitrogen fertilizer business are ammonia, urea and urea ammonium nitrate solution, or UAN. Our principal products in the phosphate fertilizer business are diammonium phosphate, or DAP, and monoammonium phosphate, or MAP. Our core market and distribution facilities are concentrated in the midwestern U.S. grain-producing states. Our principal customers are cooperatives and independent fertilizer distributors.

Our principal assets include:

- the largest nitrogen fertilizer complex in North America (Donaldsonville, Louisiana);
- a 66% economic interest in the largest nitrogen fertilizer complex in Canada (which we operate in Medicine Hat, Alberta through Canadian Fertilizers Limited (CFL), a consolidated variable interest entity);
- one of the largest integrated ammonium phosphate fertilizer complexes in the United States (Plant City, Florida);
- the most-recently constructed phosphate rock mine and associated beneficiation plant in the United States (Hardee County, Florida); and
- an extensive system of terminals, warehouses and associated transportation equipment located primarily in the midwestern United States.

CF Holdings was formed in 2005 to hold the existing business of CF Industries, Inc. Prior to the consummation of our initial public offering (IPO) in August 2005, CF Industries, Inc. operated as a cooperative and was owned by eight regional agricultural cooperatives (our pre-IPO owners).

Executive Summary

We reported net earnings of \$7.3 million in the third quarter of 2006 compared to a net loss of \$91.4 million in the third quarter of 2005. Our results for the third quarter of 2006 included a net \$13.0 million pre-tax mark-to-market loss on natural gas derivatives. The net loss of \$91.4 million for the third quarter of 2005 included a \$99.9 million non-cash charge to the income tax provision to record a valuation allowance on the deferred tax asset related to CF Industries, Inc. s net operating loss carryforwards generated during pre-IPO operations, a \$28.3 million loss on the extinguishment of debt, a \$14.1 million gain associated with the early termination of certain natural gas hedge positions, and a \$6.1 million reduction in the income tax provision due to a refund of Canadian income taxes.

Our gross margin decreased \$30.2 million to \$25.8 million in the third quarter of 2006 compared to \$56.0 million in the third quarter of 2005. The decline in gross margin resulted from unfavorable variances

related to natural gas derivatives and lower average nitrogen fertilizer selling prices, partially offset by a decrease in natural gas costs and higher fertilizer sales volume.

Our net sales increased 5% to \$378.0 million in the third quarter of 2006 compared to \$359.4 million in the third quarter of 2005. The increase reflected higher phosphate fertilizer sales volume and higher average phosphate selling prices. An increase in nitrogen fertilizers sales volume in the third quarter of 2006 was substantially offset by lower average nitrogen fertilizer selling prices. A 252,000 ton increase in fertilizer sold during the third quarter of 2006 resulted in total sales volume of 1.9 million tons in the third quarter of 2006 compared to 1.6 million tons in the third quarter of 2005.

We paid cash dividends of \$1.1 million in the third quarter of 2006.

Net earnings of \$25.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 were \$51.5 million more than the \$26.2 million net loss for the comparable period of 2005. The improvement in net earnings was due primarily to a number of items related to our August 2005 IPO, partially offset by historically high natural gas prices experienced in the first quarter 2006, unfavorable variances related to natural gas derivatives and reduced demand for nitrogen fertilizers during the spring planting season followed by a highly competitive pricing environment in the third quarter.

The following significant items affected the comparability of our reported results for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and our financial position as of September 30, 2006:

On August 16, 2005, we completed our IPO of common stock. We sold 47,437,500 shares of our common stock in the offering and received net proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions, of approximately \$715.4 million. In connection with our IPO, we consummated a reorganization transaction in which CF Industries, Inc. ceased to be a cooperative and became our wholly-owned subsidiary. In the reorganization transaction, all of the equity interests in CF Industries, Inc. were cancelled in exchange for all of the proceeds of the IPO and 7,562,499 shares of our common stock. We did not retain any of the proceeds from the IPO.

In connection with our IPO, we also recorded a non-cash charge to the income tax provision of \$99.9 million to reduce to zero what remained of the gross deferred tax asset related to CF Industries, Inc. s net operating loss carryforwards as of August 16, 2005 (CF Industries, Inc. s last day as a cooperative). Those net operating loss carryforwards were generated from business conducted with CF Industries, Inc. s pre-IPO owners while CF Industries, Inc. was a cooperative. In connection with our IPO, we entered into an NOL agreement with the pre-IPO owners of CF Industries, Inc. which provides that in the event that it is finally determined by the applicable taxing jurisdictions that CF Industries, Inc. s pre-IPO NOLs can be utilized, we will pay the pre-IPO owners an amount equal to the federal and state income taxes saved by the utilization of the pre-IPO NOLs. See Notes 12 and 30 to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of our 2005 Annual Report on Form 10K for further discussion of the NOL agreement.

In August of 2005, we replaced our \$140 million senior secured revolving credit facility with a \$250 million senior secured revolving credit facility.

In August of 2005, we repaid in full \$235.6 million of our term notes, plus associated prepayment penalties and accrued interest in the amount of \$29.3 million, with cash on hand and by liquidating short-term investments. Prior thereto, we made principal payments of \$0.7 million and \$10.0 million on their scheduled maturity dates.

In connection with these transactions, we incurred an estimated net \$17.1 million charge (after taxes) related to the prepayment penalties associated with the repayment of our long term debt (\$16.0 million) and termination of a long-term incentive plan (\$1.1 million) upon completion of our IPO. We also

incurred a non-cash charge of \$1.1 million (after taxes) related to the write-off of unamortized financing fees related to our previous senior secured revolving credit facility and long term debt.

Hurricane activity in the Gulf of Mexico region during the latter portion of 2005 significantly affected the domestic fertilizer industry. These hurricanes caused substantial damage to the natural gas production and distribution facilities in the region, affecting the supply and price of natural gas, the primary raw material used to produce nitrogen fertilizers. By the end of the first quarter of 2006, natural gas prices had moderated, returning to approximately pre-hurricane levels. These storms also affected the availability of barges used to transport urea and DAP/MAP on the Mississippi River and adversely affected the supply of sulfur, a raw material used in the production of phosphate fertilizers, by causing refinery closures and transportation disruptions.

In the fourth quarter of 2005, we ceased classifying natural gas derivatives as cash flow hedges as defined in SFAS No. 133 Accounting for Derivatives and Hedging Activities. As a result, realized and unrealized gains or losses related to our derivatives are now recognized in operations as they occur. Cash flow hedges existing at the time we discontinued hedge accounting were de-designated as cash flow hedges. During the third quarter of 2006 we recognized a net \$13.0 million pre-tax mark-to-market loss on natural gas derivatives in cost of sales. Despite our change in accounting treatment, the execution and attendant economic consequences of our hedging activities have not changed, in that derivatives are still being used to lock in a substantial portion of our margin on forward pricing program (FPP) sales. However, because of our change in accounting treatment, gains or losses on natural gas hedges may not be realized in the same period as the FPP sale to which they relate. We also establish natural gas derivative positions that are associated with anticipated natural gas requirements unrelated to our FPP. See Note 10 to our unaudited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-Q for further discussion of derivative financial instruments.

Results of Operations

The following table presents our consolidated results of operations:

	Three months ended September 30, 2006 2005 2006 v. 2005 (in millions, except per share amounts)			Nine months ended September 30, 2006 2005			r 30,	2006 v. 2005					
Net sales	\$ 378.0		\$ 359.4		\$ 18.6		\$ 1,443.3	,	\$ 1,445.4	ļ	5	6 (2.1)
Cost of sales	352.2		303.4		48.8		1,339.0		1,238.5			100.5	
Gross margin	25.8		56.0		(30.2)	104.3		206.9		(102.6)
Selling, general and administrative	13.2		17.7		(4.5)	40.5		43.0		(2.5)
Other operating net	0.3		1.3		(1.0)	3.4		3.8		(0.4)
Operating earnings	12.3		37.0		(24.7)	60.4		160.1		(99.7)
Interest expense	0.5		3.0		(2.5)	2.5		13.5		(11.0)
Interest income	(3.8)	(3.9)		0.1		(9.3)	(11.6)	2	2.3	
Loss on extinguishment of debt			28.3		(28.3)			28.3		(28.3)
Minority interest	4.8		6.3		(1.5)	27.1		18.7		8	3.4	
Other non-operating net	(0.2)	0.1		(0.3)	(0.4)			(0.4)
Earnings before income taxes	11.0		3.2		7.8		40.5		111.2		(70.7)
Income tax provision	3.7		94.6		(90.9)	15.2		137.4		(122.2)
Net earnings (loss)	\$ 7.3		\$ (91.4)		\$ 98.7		\$ 25.3		\$ (26.2)	5	51.5	
Net Earnings (Loss) Per Share													
Basic and diluted weighted average													
common shares outstanding	55.0		55.0 ((1)			55.0		55.0	(1)			
Basic and diluted net earnings (loss) per													
share	\$ 0.13		\$ (1.66)(1)	\$ 1.79		\$ 0.46		\$ (0.48)(1)	9	0.94	

Represents the pro forma basic and diluted net earnings (loss) per share calculations as if the number of common shares issued in our IPO were outstanding as of December 31, 2004. See Note 4 of our unaudited consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-Q for further information regarding pro forma net earnings (loss) per share.

Third Quarter of 2006 Compared to the Third Quarter of 2005

Consolidated Operating Results

During the third quarter of 2006, generally lower natural gas prices and higher domestic production rates contributed to a highly competitive pricing environment for the domestic nitrogen fertilizer industry, which adversely impacted our average selling prices. Strong international phosphate demand supported our phosphate fertilizer business during the third quarter of 2006. Our total gross margin decreased by \$30.2 million, or 54%, to \$25.8 million for the third quarter of 2006 compared to \$56.0 million for the same period in 2005, due largely to lower average selling prices for nitrogen fertilizers, and unfavorable variances on natural gas derivatives, partially offset by a decrease in natural gas costs. Net earnings of \$7.3 million for the third quarter of 2006 included a net pre-tax mark-to-market loss of \$13.0 million on natural gas derivatives. There were no mark-to-market adjustments recorded directly to cost of sales in the prior period as hedge accounting was still being applied. However, a gain of \$14.1 million associated with the early termination of certain natural gas hedge positions was recorded in the prior year period. The net loss of \$91.4 million for the third quarter of 2005 included a \$99.9 million non-cash charge to the income tax provision to record a valuation allowance on the deferred tax asset related to CF Industries, Inc. s net

operating loss carryforwards generated during pre-IPO operations, a \$28.3 million loss on the extinguishment of debt, a \$14.1 million gain associated with the early termination of certain natural gas hedge positions and a \$6.1 million reduction in the income tax provision due to a refund of Canadian income taxes.

Net Sales

Our net sales increased 5% to \$378.0 million in the third quarter of 2006 compared to \$359.4 million in the third quarter of 2005, due to higher phosphate fertilizer sales volumes and average selling prices. An increase in nitrogen fertilizers sales volume in the third quarter of 2006 was substantially offset by lower average selling prices. Our total sales volume increased 15% to 1.9 million tons in the third quarter of 2006 versus 1.6 million tons in the third quarter of 2005. Our total level of phosphate fertilizer sales of 510,000 tons in the third quarter of 2006 was 50,000 tons, or 11%, higher compared to the 460,000 tons sold during the same period in 2005, primarily due to increased export demand. Average phosphate fertilizer prices in the third quarter of 2006 increased by 5% compared to prices in the third quarter of 2005. Nitrogen fertilizer sales volume increased 202,000 tons, or 17%, to 1.4 million tons in the third quarter of 2006 compared to 1.2 million tons in the comparable period of 2005, due primarily to higher urea and UAN sales. The decrease in average nitrogen fertilizer prices in the third quarter of 2006 resulted primarily from the influence of lower North American natural gas prices.

Cost of Sales

Total cost of sales of our nitrogen fertilizers averaged approximately \$182 per ton in the third quarter of both 2006 and 2005, as lower natural gas prices in 2006 were offset by unfavorable variances related to natural gas derivatives. Phosphate fertilizer cost of sales averaged \$198 per ton in the third quarter of 2006, approximating the cost per ton in the third quarter of the prior year.

During the third quarter of 2006, we sold approximately 434,000 tons of fertilizer under our forward pricing program, representing approximately 23% of our total fertilizer sales volume for the quarter. In the comparable period of 2005, we sold approximately 1.0 million tons of fertilizer under this program, representing approximately 63% of our total fertilizer sales volume for the period.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased 25% to \$13.2 million for the third quarter of 2006 compared to \$17.7 million in the corresponding quarter of the prior year. The decrease in the third quarter of 2006 was largely due to the absence in 2006 of administrative expenses related to the completion of our IPO, including expenses associated with the termination of a long-term incentive plan.

Other Operating Net

Other operating net decreased to \$0.3 million in the third quarter of 2006 from \$1.3 million in the same period of 2005. The decrease was due primarily to a \$0.7 million upward adjustment in the third quarter of 2006 to the asset retirement obligations (AROs) at our closed Bartow, Florida, facility as compared to a \$2.1 million upward adjustment in the same period of 2005. Separately, favorable adjustments to our litigation reserve as a result of final settlements recorded in the third quarter of 2006 were more than offset by gains realized during the third quarter of 2005 on the sales of a previously-idled distribution terminal and excess land at our Bartow complex. For a detailed explanation of the accounting for AROs at Bartow, please refer to Note 9 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Interest Net

Net interest income increased \$2.4 million to \$3.3 million in the third quarter of 2006 from \$0.9 million in the third quarter of 2005. Interest expense decreased 83% to \$0.5 million in 2006 from \$3.0 million in 2005, due to the full repayment of our term notes out of our cash and short-term investments in the third quarter of 2005. Interest income of \$3.8 million in the third quarter of 2006 approximated the amount in the comparable quarter of 2005.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

The \$28.3 million loss on extinguishment of debt incurred in the third quarter of 2005 consists of a \$26.4 million penalty associated with the prepayment of our term notes and the write-off of \$1.9 million of unamortized financing fees related to our long-term debt and previous senior secured revolving credit facility.

Minority Interest

Amounts reported as minority interest represent the interest of the 34% minority holder of CFL s common and preferred shares. The decrease in the third quarter of 2006 was due to reduced CFL operating results.

Income Taxes

The income tax provisions recorded for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were based upon our estimated annual effective tax rate, which includes applicable federal, foreign and state income taxes.

Our income tax provision for the third quarter of 2006 was \$3.7 million, or an effective tax rate of 33.6%. This compared with a tax provision of \$1.8 million on pre-tax earnings for the third quarter of 2005, or an effective tax rate of 56.3%. The decrease in the effective rate results principally from the cumulative effect of adjusting our estimated annual effective tax rate upward in the third quarter of 2005, and the impact of reduced state income taxes in the third quarter of 2006.

For the three months ended September 30, 2005, our income tax provision of \$94.6 million included the following items: income tax expense of \$1.8 million on earnings before income taxes (which includes additional expense of \$0.5 million related to a year-to-date effective tax rate adjustment, primarily resulting from IPO costs that are not deductible for tax purposes); a charge of \$99.9 million to establish a valuation allowance, as discussed further below; a tax benefit of \$1.0 million for adjustments to prior years tax returns; and a tax benefit of \$6.1 million relating to a Canadian income tax refund that resulted from the application of an exemption under the Canada/United States tax treaty.

On August 16, 2005, we completed our IPO and related reorganization, and CF Industries, Inc. ceased to be a cooperative for income tax purposes. On that date, CF Industries, Inc. had a deferred tax asset totaling \$99.9 million related to net operating loss carryforwards (NOLs) generated from business conducted with the CF Industries, Inc. s pre-IPO owners when CF Industries, Inc. was a cooperative for income tax purposes. Concurrent with the IPO, a 100% valuation allowance was established related to these NOLs due to substantial uncertainty under existing tax law as to CF Industries, Inc. s ability to realize any tax benefits from these NOLs due to CF Industries, Inc. s ceasing to be a cooperative. The valuation allowance resulted in the \$99.9 million charge, which is included in the income tax provision for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005

Consolidated Operating Results

For the nine months ended September 30, 2006, the domestic nitrogen fertilizer industry was impacted negatively by high natural gas prices during the first quarter of the year, reduced demand during the spring planting season, followed by a highly competitive pricing environment in the third quarter. Our phosphate fertilizer business was affected positively during the first nine months of 2006 by relatively balanced industry supply/demand conditions. Our total gross margin decreased by approximately \$102.6 million, or 50%, to \$104.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to a gross margin of \$206.9 million for the same period in 2005. The net earnings of \$25.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 included a pre-tax charge of \$21.3 million for unrealized mark-to-market losses on natural gas derivatives. There were no mark-to-market adjustments recorded directly to cost of sales in the prior period as hedge accounting was still being applied. The net loss of \$26.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 included a \$99.9 million non-cash charge to record a valuation allowance on the deferred tax asset related to CF Industries, Inc. s net operating loss carryforwards generated during pre-IPO operations, a \$28.3 million loss on the extinguishment of debt, a \$14.6 million gain associated with the early termination of certain natural gas hedge positions and a \$6.1 million tax benefit from a refund of Canadian income taxes.

Net Sales

Our net sales were \$1.4 billion for each of the nine month periods ended September 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005. Higher average selling prices for nitrogen and phosphate fertilizers in 2006 were offset by lower nitrogen fertilizer sales volumes. Our total sales volume decreased 6% to 6.1 million tons for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 versus 6.5 million tons for the nine months ended September 30, 2005, primarily due to lower nitrogen fertilizer sales volume. Nitrogen fertilizer sales volume decreased 394,000 tons, or 8%, to 4.6 million tons for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to 5.0 million tons in the comparable period of 2005, due to reduced demand during the spring planting season and the cessation of production by U.S. Agri-Chemicals to whom we had sold ammonia previously. Our total level of phosphate fertilizer sales of 1.6 million tons for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 approximated the amount sold in the same period of 2005. Nitrogen and phosphate fertilizer prices for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 averaged 6% and 8% higher, respectively, than the prices for similar products in the comparable period of 2005.

Cost of Sales

Total cost of sales of our nitrogen fertilizers averaged \$223 per ton for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to \$188 per ton in a comparable period of 2005, an increase of 19%, primarily due to higher natural gas prices, higher purchased product costs and unfavorable variances on natural gas derivatives. Phosphate fertilizer cost of sales averaged \$208 per ton for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to \$196 per ton in the same period of the prior year, an increase of 6%, mainly due to higher ammonia and sulfur costs.

During the first nine months of 2006, we sold approximately 2.2 million tons of fertilizer under our forward pricing program, representing approximately 36% of our total fertilizer sales volume for the period. In the comparable period of 2005, we sold approximately 3.9 million tons of fertilizer under this program, representing approximately 60% of our total fertilizer sales volume for the period.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased 6% to \$40.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to \$43.0 million in the comparable period of 2005. The year-over-year decrease in expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 resulted largely from the absence of expenses related to our August 2005 IPO, including expenses associated with the termination of a long-

term incentive plan upon completion of our IPO. This decrease was partially offset by additional share-based compensation expense and additional administrative expenses associated with being a publicly held company, both items that were incurred in 2006.

Other Operating Net

Other operating net decreased to \$3.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from \$3.8 million in the same period of 2005. During the nine months ended September 30, 2006, we recorded adjustments of \$1.7 million to increase the asset retirement obligations (AROs) at our closed Bartow facility as compared to \$2.1 million in 2005. Separately, favorable variances in 2006 related to our litigation reserve were more than offset by the absence of gains realized during the third quarter of 2005 on the sales of a previously idled distribution terminal and excess land at our Bartow complex.

Interest Net

Interest net swung to \$6.8 million of net interest income for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from \$1.9 million of net interest expense in the same period of 2005. Interest expense decreased 81% to \$2.5 million in 2006 from \$13.5 million in 2005, due to the full repayment of our term notes, out of our cash and short-term investments, in the third quarter of 2005. This decrease was partially offset by \$1.0 million of interest expense in the second quarter of 2006 related to a Canadian tax matter. Interest income decreased to \$9.3 million in 2006 from \$11.6 million in 2005 as higher average rates of return were more than offset by lower average balances of invested cash.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

The \$28.3 million loss on extinguishment of debt incurred in the third quarter of 2005 consists of a \$26.4 million penalty associated with the prepayment of our term notes and the write-off of \$1.9 million of unamortized financing fees related to the term notes and previous senior secured revolving credit facility.

Minority Interest

Amounts reported as minority interest represent the interest of the 34% minority holder of CFL s common and preferred shares. The increase for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 was due to CFL operating results.

Income Taxes

The income tax provisions recorded for the nine month periods ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were based upon our estimated annual effective tax rate, which includes applicable federal, foreign and state income taxes.

Our income tax provision for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 was \$15.2 million, or an effective tax rate of 37.5%. This compared with a tax provision of \$44.1 million on pre-tax earnings for the third quarter of 2005, or an effective tax rate of 39.7%. The decrease in the effective tax rate results principally from lower state income taxes in the current year and the effect of expenses recorded in the prior year period associated with our IPO that were not deductible for income tax purposes.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, the income tax provision of \$137.4 million included the following items: income tax expense of \$44.1 million on earnings before income taxes; a charge of \$99.9 million to establish a valuation allowance, as previously discussed; a tax benefit of \$0.5 million for adjustments to prior years tax returns; and a tax benefit related to a Canadian income tax refund of \$6.1 million.

Segment Review

Our business is organized and managed internally based on two segments, the nitrogen fertilizer business and the phosphate fertilizer business, which are differentiated primarily by their products, the markets they serve and the regulatory environments in which they operate.

Nitrogen Fertilizer Business

The following table presents summary operating data for our nitrogen fertilizer business:

	Three months ended September 30, 2006 2005 2006 v. 2005 (in millions, except as noted)			2006	led September 30, 2005 2	2006 v. 2005
Net sales	\$ 260.5	\$ 258.3	\$ 2.2	\$ 1,082.5	\$ 1,111.5	\$ (29.0)
Cost of sales	250.9	213.3	37.6	1,015.8	932.2	83.6
Gross margin	\$ 9.6	\$ 45.0	\$ (35.4)	\$ 66.7	\$ 179.3	\$ (112.6)
Gross margin percentage	3.7 %	17.4 %		6.2 %	16.1 %	
Tons of product sold (in thousands)	1,378	1,176	202	4,563	4,957	(394)
Sales volumes by product (tons in						
thousands)						
Ammonia	143	145	(2)	789	1,032	(243)
Urea	607	549	58	1,969	1,977	(8)
UAN	621	474	147	1,763	1,905	(142)
Other nitrogen products	7	8	(1)	42	43	(1)
Average selling price per ton by product						
Ammonia	\$ 292	\$ 303	\$ (11)	\$ 387	\$ 309	\$ 78
Urea	218	251	(33)	248	244	4
UAN	138	160	(22)	162	161	1
Cost of natural gas (per MMBtu) (1)						
Donaldsonville	\$ 6.58	\$ 7.17	\$ (0.59)	\$ 7.37	\$ 6.97	\$ 0.40
Medicine Hat	5.15	7.25	(2.10)	6.58	6.29	0.29
Average daily market price of natural gas (per MMBtu)						
Henry Hub (Louisiana)	\$ 6.09	\$ 9.72	\$ (3.63)	\$ 6.78	\$ 7.69	\$ (0.91)
AECO (Alberta)	5.07	7.73	(2.66)	5.66	6.42	(0.76)
Depreciation and amortization	\$ 14.7	\$ 14.2	\$ 0.5	\$ 43.6	\$ 50.8	\$ (7.2)
Capital expenditures	\$ 13.1	\$ 17.0	\$ (3.9)	\$ 21.6	\$ 36.3	\$ (14.7)
Production volume by product (tons in						
thousands)						
Ammonia (2)(3)	776	678	98	2,279	2,354	(75)
Granular urea (2)	568	517	51	1,685	1,748	(63)
UAN (28%)	679	465	214	1,672	1,836	(164)

⁽¹⁾ Includes the cost of natural gas purchases and realized gains and losses on natural gas derivatives.

Total production at Donaldsonville and Medicine Hat, including the 34% interest of Westco, our joint venture partner in CFL.

Gross ammonia production, including amounts subsequently upgraded on-site into urea and/or UAN.

Third Quarter of 2006 Compared to the Third Quarter of 2005

Net Sales. Nitrogen fertilizer net sales of \$260.5 million in the third quarter of 2006 approximated the level of the comparable quarter of the prior year, as higher sales volume was offset by lower average selling prices. Nitrogen fertilizer sales volume increased 17% to 1.4 million tons in the third quarter of 2006 compared to 1.2 million tons in the comparable period of 2005 due principally to the impact of production and shipping disruptions caused by the two hurricanes in 2005. Ammonia, urea and UAN sales prices decreased by 4%, 13% and 14%, respectively, in the third quarter of 2006 compared to prices in the same period of the prior year. The decrease in nitrogen fertilizer prices in the third quarter of 2006 primarily resulted from the influence of lower North American natural gas prices.

Cost of Sales. Total cost of sales of our nitrogen fertilizers averaged approximately \$182 per ton in the third quarter of both 2006 and 2005, as lower natural gas prices in 2006 were offset by unfavorable variances related to natural gas derivatives. The overall weighted average cost of natural gas supplied to our Donaldsonville facility and CFL s Medicine Hat facility decreased by 15% in the third quarter of 2006 versus the cost in the comparable period of 2005. We recognized a net \$13.0 million mark-to-market loss on natural gas derivatives in the third quarter of 2006 and \$14.1 million of hedge related gains in the third quarter of 2005. See the Executive Summary section of this discussion and analysis for additional information about the impact of a change in accounting for our natural gas derivatives.

During the third quarter of 2006, we sold approximately 380,000 tons of nitrogen fertilizers under our forward pricing program, representing approximately 28% of our nitrogen fertilizer sales volume for the quarter. In the comparable period of 2005, we sold approximately 797,000 tons of nitrogen fertilizers under this program, representing approximately 68% of our nitrogen fertilizer sales volume for the period.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Sales. Nitrogen fertilizer net sales decreased \$29.0 million to \$1.1 billion for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, approximately the same level in the prior year period, due to lower sales volume, which was partially offset by higher average ammonia selling prices. Nitrogen fertilizer sales volume decreased 8% to 4.6 million tons in the first nine months of 2006 compared to 5.0 million tons in the comparable period of 2005. Ammonia and UAN sales volumes decreased by 24% and 8%, respectively, for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to the same period of the prior year. Ammonia sales volumes decreased due primarily to fewer corn acres planted and reduced application rates, as well as lower sales from our Tampa terminal due to U.S. Agri-Chemicals, a former customer, ceasing phosphate operations in the fourth quarter of 2005. The decrease in UAN sales compared to sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 was due primarily to less corn acreage planted and reduced demand in the southern portion of the country due to drought conditions, partially offset by strong summer fill demand resulting from the perception of a stronger UAN market later in the year. Ammonia sales prices increased by 25% for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to prices in the same period of the prior year, primarily due to the influence of higher North American natural gas prices during the first quarter.

Cost of Sales. Total cost of sales of our nitrogen fertilizers averaged \$223 per ton for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, compared to \$188 per ton for the same period in 2005, an increase of 19%, largely due to higher natural gas prices, higher purchased product costs and unfavorable variances related to natural gas derivatives. The overall weighted average cost of natural gas supplied to our Donaldsonville facility and CFL s Medicine Hat facility increased by 5% for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 versus the cost in the comparable period of 2005. Purchased product costs were approximately \$42.7 million higher in 2006 than in the same period of 2005 due to the overall increase in nitrogen fertilizer prices as well as an increase in the amount of sales volume supported by purchased products, both factors mainly occurring during the first six months of 2006. We recognized \$21.3 million of unrealized mark-to-market losses on derivatives in 2006 as an increase in cost of sales due to our discontinuing hedge

accounting coupled with the decline in natural gas prices that occurred during the year. We also recorded \$14.6 million of hedge gains in 2005, mainly in the third quarter. See the Overview section of this discussion and analysis for additional information about the impact of accounting for our natural gas derivatives.

During the first nine months of 2006, we sold approximately 2.0 million tons of nitrogen fertilizers under our forward pricing program, representing approximately 43% of our nitrogen fertilizer sales volume for the period. In the comparable period of 2005, we sold approximately 3.4 million tons of nitrogen fertilizers under this program, representing approximately 68% of our nitrogen fertilizer sales volume for the period.

Phosphate Fertilizer Business

The following table presents summary operating data for our phosphate fertilizer business:

	2006	ended Septembe 2005 (cept as noted)	er 30, 2006 v. 2005	Nine months e 2006	ended September 2005	30, 2006 v. 2005
Net sales	\$ 117.5	\$ 101.1	\$ 16.4	\$ 360.8	\$ 333.9	\$ 26.9
Cost of sales	101.3	90.1	11.2	323.2	306.3	16.9
Gross margin	\$ 16.2	\$ 11.0	\$ 5.2	\$ 37.6	\$ 27.6	\$ 10.0
Gross margin percentage	13.8 %	10.9 %		10.4 %	8.3 %	
Tons of product sold (in thousands)	510	460	50	1,553	1,563	(10)
Sales volumes by product (tons in thousands)						
DAP	380	353	27	1,242	1,243	(1)
MAP	130	107	23	311	320	(9)
Domestic vs export sales of DAP/MAP (tons						
in thousands)						
Domestic	298	315	(17)	1,043	1,032	11
Export	212	145	67	510	531	(21)
Average selling price per ton by product						
DAP	\$ 229	\$ 219	\$ 10	\$ 232	\$ 212	\$ 20
MAP	233	223	10	234	219	15
Depreciation, depletion and amortization	\$ 7.7	\$ 8.4	\$ (0.7)	\$ 25.1	\$ 23.6	\$ 1.5
Capital expenditures	\$ 4.7	\$ 4.2	\$ 0.5	\$ 19.6	\$ 18.1	\$ 1.5
Production volume by product (tons in						
thousands)						
Phosphate rock	983	979	4	2,850	2,570	280
Sulfuric acid	655	657	(2)	1,964	1,897	67
Phosphoric acid as P2O5	256	255	1	769	732	37
DAP/MAP	512	511	1	1,542	1,459	83

Third Quarter of 2006 Compared to the Third Quarter of 2005

Net Sales. Phosphate fertilizer net sales increased 16% to \$117.5 million in the third quarter of 2006 compared to \$101.1 million in the third quarter of 2005 due to higher phosphate fertilizer sales volume and higher average selling prices. Our total level of phosphate fertilizer sales of 510,000 tons in the third quarter of 2006 was 50,000 tons, or 11%, higher than in the comparable period in 2005. The 67,000 ton increase in sales of DAP/MAP to export customers was primarily due to higher demand in key overseas markets. Average phosphate fertilizer prices in the third quarter of 2006 increased by 5% compared to prices in the third quarter of 2005.

Cost of Sales. Average phosphate cost of sales of \$198 per ton in the third quarter of 2006 approximated the average per ton cost in the third quarter of 2005.

During the third quarter of 2006, we sold approximately 54,000 tons of phosphate fertilizers under our forward pricing program, representing approximately 11% of our phosphate fertilizer sales volume for the quarter. In the comparable period of 2005, we sold approximately 229,000 tons of phosphate fertilizers under this program, representing approximately 50% of our phosphate fertilizer sales volume for the period.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005

Net Sales. Phosphate fertilizer net sales increased 8% to \$360.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to \$333.9 million in the comparable period of 2005, due primarily to higher average selling prices. Average phosphate fertilizer prices during the first nine months of 2006 increased by 8% compared to prices in 2005. Our total level of phosphate fertilizer sales of 1.6 million tons in the first nine months of 2006 approximated the prior period s level.

Cost of Sales. Phosphate cost of sales averaged \$208 per ton for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to \$196 per ton for the nine months ended September 30, 2005. The 6% increase was mainly due to higher ammonia and sulfur costs. Ammonia prices increased by 13% during 2006 compared to the same period in 2005, reflecting stronger global market conditions through the first half of 2006. Sulfur costs increased by 11% for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to the same period in 2005. The increase, mainly occurring in the first six months of 2006, reflected the lingering impact of supply disruptions that occurred in 2005 due to hurricane activity.

During the first nine months of 2006, we sold approximately 230,000 tons of phosphate fertilizers under our forward pricing program, representing approximately 15% of our phosphate fertilizer sales volume for the period. In the comparable period of 2005, we sold approximately 541,000 tons of phosphate fertilizers under this program, representing approximately 35% of our phosphate fertilizer sales volume for the period.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of cash are operating cash flow, which includes customer advances, and our senior secured revolving credit facility. Our primary uses of cash are operating costs, working capital needs, capital expenditures and dividends. Our working capital requirements are affected by several factors, including demand for our products, selling prices for our products, raw material costs, freight costs and seasonality factors inherent in the business.

Cash Balances

As of September 30, 2006, we had cash and cash equivalents of \$21.4 million, short-term investments of \$284.0 million and a \$148.8 million current liability attributable to customer advances related to cash deposits received under our forward pricing program. As of December 31, 2005, the comparable amounts

were \$37.4 million, \$179.3 million and \$131.6 million, respectively. Short-term investments consist primarily of available-for-sale auction rate securities that are reported at fair value. We believe that our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, our operating cash flows and liquidity under our senior secured revolving credit facility are adequate to fund our cash requirements for the foreseeable future. As of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, we had \$199.6 million and \$192.6 million available, respectively, under our revolving credit facility.

Debt

Notes payable, representing amounts owed by CFL to its minority interest holder with respect to advances, were \$4.4 million as of September 30, 2006 compared to \$4.2 million as of December 31, 2005. There were no outstanding borrowings or letters of credit under our \$250 million senior secured revolving credit facility as of September 30, 2006 or December 31, 2005.

Forward Pricing Program

We offer a FPP to our customers under which product may be ordered for future delivery, with a substantial portion of the sales proceeds generally being collected before the product is shipped, thereby reducing or eliminating the accounts receivable related to such sales. As of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, we had approximately \$148.8 million and \$131.6 million, respectively, in customer advances on our consolidated balance sheet. As of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, we had approximately 808,000 tons of product and 1.2 million tons of product, respectively, committed to be sold under the FPP. Most of this product was scheduled to ship within 150 days of September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively.

While customer advances were a significant source of liquidity in the first nine months of both 2006 and 2005, the level of sales under the FPP is affected by many factors, including current market conditions and our customers—perceptions of future market fundamentals. As of September 30, 2005, we had approximately 1.5 million tons of product committed to be sold under this program. The lower level as of September 30, 2006 reflects the hesitancy of our customers to make commitments in the fertilizer pricing environment prevalent during the current reporting period.

The level of our customers participation in our FPP may vary over time. Should the level of participation decrease, there is a risk of increased volatility in the operating earnings of future periods. If the level of sales under the FPP were to decrease in the future, our cash received from customer advances would likely decrease, and our accounts receivable balances would likely increase. Also, borrowing under our senior secured revolving credit facility could become necessary. Due to the volatility inherent in our business and changing customer expectations, we cannot estimate the amount of future FPP sales activity.

Financial Assurance Requirements

In addition to various operational and environmental regulations related to our phosphate fertilizer business, we are also subject to financial assurance requirements. Previously, these financial assurance requirements were satisfied without the need for any advance expenditure of corporate funds provided our financial statements met certain criteria, referred to as the financial tests. However, pursuant to a 2005 amendment to the Florida regulations governing financial assurance related to the closure of phosphogypsum stacks, we established an escrow account to meet such future obligations in order to take advantage of a safe harbor provision in the regulations that would obviate the need for us to meet the financial test criteria in the future. In March of 2006, we contributed \$11.1 million to this escrow account, which by rule is earmarked to cover the closure, long-term maintenance, and monitoring costs for our phosphogypsum stacks, as well as any costs incurred to manage the water contained in the stack system upon closure.

Additionally, Florida regulations require mining companies to demonstrate financial responsibility for wetland and other surface water mitigation measures in advance of any mining activities. We will be required to demonstrate financial responsibility for wetland and other surface-water-mitigation measures in advance of any mining activities, if and when we are able to expand our Hardee mining activities to areas not currently permitted. The demonstration of financial responsibility by mining companies in Florida may be provided by passing a financial test or by establishing a cash deposit arrangement. Based on these current regulations, we will have the option to demonstrate financial responsibility in Florida utilizing either of these methods.

See Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Liquidity in our 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information on financial assurance requirements.

Cash Flows

Operating Activities

Net cash generated from operating activities in the first nine months of 2006 was \$163.3 million compared to \$222.4 million in the same period in 2005. The \$59.1 million decrease in cash provided by operating activities in 2006 was primarily due to a \$99.7 million decrease in operating earnings, partially offset by the adjustment for the non-cash effect of \$21.3 million of unrealized losses on derivatives. Other major factors affecting operating cash flow during the first nine months of 2006 were a \$30.8 million increase in accounts receivable, a \$21.5 million decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses, a \$17.2 million increase in customer advances, a \$16.8 million decrease in margin deposits, and a \$10.5 million decrease in inventories. The increase in accounts receivable was primarily due to less volume shipped under the FPP for which a substantial portion of the sales proceeds is generally received prior to shipment. The decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses was primarily due to lower amounts owed for purchased product as of September 30, 2006 as compared to December 31, 2005. The increase in customer advances was due primarily to changes in the product mix of outstanding orders and a greater percentage of the contract value having been collected by September 30, 2006 in advance of the fall season. Remaining unpaid amounts of customer advances are generally collected by the time the product is shipped. The decrease in margin deposits was primarily due to lower margin requirements. The decrease in inventories reflects lower per-unit nitrogen fertilizers manufacturing cost at September 30, 2006 partially offset by higher quantities of nitrogen fertilizers held due to seasonal factors.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was \$156.9 million for the first nine months of 2006 as compared to \$57.0 million of cash provided by investing activities in the comparable period of 2005. The \$213.9 million swing in cash used in investing activities was primarily due to the liquidation of short term investments for repayment of our term notes in 2005, as previously discussed. Net purchases of short-term investments were \$104.7 million during the first nine months of 2006 as compared to \$92.2 million of net sales during the nine months ended September 30, 2005. The level of short-term investments, generally auction rate securities that we liquidate over periods ranging from three to twelve months, is dictated by our current cash position and estimated future liquidity requirements. Additions to property, plant and equipment-net were \$41.1 million for the first nine months of 2006 and \$53.8 million for the comparable period of the prior year. The decrease in additions to property, plant and equipment-net in 2006 was due primarily to a \$14.7 million decrease in plant turnaround expenditures during 2006 as compared to the same period in 2005. As previously discussed, we contributed \$11.1 million in March of 2006 to our asset retirement obligation escrow account. The balance in this account is reported at fair value on our consolidated balance sheet. The \$18.6 million of proceeds from sale of unconsolidated subsidiary

represents the cash realized from the July 15, 2005 sale of our interest in our CF Martin Sulphur joint venture to our joint venture partner, an affiliate of Martin Resource Management.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was \$22.3 million and \$289.5 million in the first nine months of 2006 and 2005, respectively. The \$267.2 million decrease in cash used in financing activities in the nine months ended September 30, 2006 versus the comparable period of 2005 was primarily due to the 2005 repayment of \$235.6 million of our term debt and the associated prepayment penalty of \$26.4 million as previously discussed. Distributions to minority interest were higher in 2006, as all of CFL s 2005 net earnings were distributed by the end of the third quarter of 2006, whereas the majority of CFL s 2004 net earnings were distributed in 2004. The \$715.4 million of proceeds from the issuance of common stock and the corresponding exchange of stock represent the proceeds from our IPO completed in the third quarter of 2005 and the subsequent payments to CF Industries, Inc. s pre-IPO owners. See the Overview section of this discussion and analysis for additional information about our IPO.

Obligations

Contractual Obligations

As of September 30, 2006, the annual amounts of purchase obligations for 2006 and 2007 are lower by \$172.3 million and \$41.4 million, respectively, as compared to the amounts shown in Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Liquidity in our 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Of the \$172.3 million reduction for 2006, approximately \$107.3 million relates to the first nine months of the year and approximately \$65.0 million relates to the last three months of the year. These changes reflect primarily lower per unit prices for commitments to purchase natural gas, ammonia and sulfur for use in phosphate production and ammonia, urea and UAN purchased for resale in our markets, as well as lower quantities for commitments to purchase ammonia for resale. These commitments are based on spot prices as of September 30, 2006 and actual prices may differ.

Other Long-Term Obligations

Our accounts payable and accrued expenses and other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet included balances related to asset retirement obligations. As of September 30, 2006 asset retirement obligations totaled \$69.8 million as compared to \$74.5 million as of December 31, 2005. The asset retirement obligations as of September 30, 2006 included the impact of \$1.7 million of adjustments to Bartow conditional asset retirement costs as discussed more fully in other operating-net in Results of Operations Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005 in this discussion and analysis. As of September 30, 2006, cash expenditures required to settle the asset retirement obligations for the balance of 2006 are expected to be \$2.5 million. See Note 9 to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of our 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion of asset retirement obligations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a material current or future effect on our financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We describe our significant accounting policies and estimates in Note 2 to our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of our 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K. We discuss our critical accounting estimates in Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In September of 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS or Statement) No. 158 Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R). This Statement requires an entity to recognize the funded status of benefit plans as assets and/or liabilities on the balance sheet, recognize gains and losses, prior service costs or credits, and transition assets or obligations in other comprehensive income, measure the defined benefit plan assets and obligations as of the date of the employer's fiscal year-end balance sheet and provide disclosure in the notes of the effects of the amortization of amounts included in other comprehensive income on the next fiscal year's periodic benefit cost. The recognition provisions of this Statement are effective for our December 31, 2006 fiscal year-end. The measurement provisions of the Statement will have no impact on our consolidated financial statements, as our plan assets and benefit obligations are currently measured as of year-end. This Statement will have no impact on our consolidated statements of operations, but could have a material impact on our December 31, 2006 consolidated balance sheet. See Note 3 to our unaudited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-Q for discussion of other new accounting standards.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that are not statements of historical fact and may involve a number of risks and uncertainties. These statements relate to analyses and other information that are based on forecasts of future results and estimates of amounts not yet determinable. These statements may also relate to our future prospects, developments and business strategies.

We have used the words anticipate, believe, could, estimate, intend, predict, project, and similar terms and expect, may, plan, references to assumptions, to identify forward-looking statements in this Form 10-Q. These forward-looking statements are made based on our expectations and beliefs concerning future events affecting us and are subject to uncertainties and factors relating to our operations and business environment, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond our control, that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those matters expressed in or implied by these forward-looking statements. We do not undertake any responsibility to release publicly any revisions to these forward-looking statements to take into account events or circumstances that occur after the date of this report. Additionally, we do not undertake any responsibility to provide updates regarding the occurrence of any unanticipated events which may cause actual results to differ from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this report.

Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations are disclosed under Risk Factors and elsewhere in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. Such factors include, among others:

- the relatively expensive and volatile cost of North American natural gas;
- the cyclical nature of our business;
- our history of losses;
- the nature of our products as global commodities;
- intense global competition in the consolidating markets in which we operate;

- conditions in the U.S. agricultural industry;
- weather conditions;
- our inability to accurately predict seasonal demand for our products;
- the concentration of our sales to CF Industries, Inc. s pre-IPO owners and other large customers;
- the impact of changing market conditions on our forward pricing program;
- the significant risks and hazards against which we may not be insured;
- unanticipated consequences related to future expansion of our business;
- our inability to expand our business, including due to the significant resources that could be required;
- potential liabilities and expenditures related to environmental and health and safety laws and regulations;
- our inability to obtain or maintain required permits and governmental approvals;
- acts of terrorism;
- difficulties in securing the raw materials we use;
- changes in global fertilizer supply and demand;
- loss of key members of management; and
- inability to meet financial reporting and other requirements as a public company.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

We are exposed to the impact of changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and commodity prices. See Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk in our Annual report on Form 10-K for additional information on market risk.

Interest Rate Fluctuations

As of September 30, 2006, we had notes payable of approximately \$4 million that had a floating interest rate. A 100 basis point change in interest rates on our notes payable would result in a \$40,000 change in pretax income on an annual basis. The senior secured revolving credit facility bears a current market rate for interest such that we are subject to interest rate risk on borrowings under this facility. As of September 30, 2006, there were no loans outstanding under this credit facility.

Commodity Prices

We manage the risk of changes in natural gas prices through the use of physical gas supply contracts and derivative financial instruments covering periods not exceeding three years. As of both September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, approximately 14.1 million MMBtus of natural gas were hedged, most of which related to sales contracted to be sold through our forward pricing program.

Through the third quarter of 2005, we recorded derivatives as assets and liabilities at their fair value on the balance sheet with an offset in other comprehensive income (loss). The gain or loss from these derivatives was deferred in other comprehensive income (loss) until the month after

the hedged natural gas was used to manufacture inventoried products, which approximated the period of inventory turns of

upgraded products and the release of the cost of the hedged gas to cost of sales. Ineffective hedge gains and losses, as defined in SFAS No. 133 Accounting for Derivatives and Hedging Activities, were recorded immediately in cost of sales.

Volatility in the natural gas market during the latter part of 2005 and our decision to supply FPP orders from sources other than production have reduced our ability to predict future natural gas requirements. Consequently, we no longer classify derivatives as cash flow hedges as defined in SFAS No. 133 *Accounting for Derivatives and Hedging Activities*. As a result, while the derivatives are still carried at their fair value on the balance sheet, unrealized gains or losses related to the derivatives are now recognized in operations as they occur. There is a probability of increased volatility in our operating earnings in future periods as a result of our discontinuance of hedge accounting, because mark-to-market adjustments on our derivatives directly impact operations as incurred.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

- (a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures. The Company s management, with the participation of the Company s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act)) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on such evaluation, the Company s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of such period, the Company s disclosure controls and procedures are effective in recording, processing, summarizing and reporting, on a timely basis, information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act and are effective in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company s management, including the Company s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
- (b) Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. There have not been any changes in the Company s internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended September 30, 2006 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company s internal control over financial reporting.

PART II OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS.

A list of exhibits filed with this report on Form 10-Q (or incorporated by reference to exhibits previously filed or furnished) is provided in the Exhibit Index on page 36 of this report.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

CF Industries Holdings, Inc.

Date: November 7, 2006 By: /s/ STEPHEN R. WILSON

Stephen R. Wilson

President and Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the

Board (Principal Executive Officer)

Date: November 7, 2006 By: /s/ ERNEST THOMAS

Ernest Thomas

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No. Description

- Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Item 1.01 of CF Industries Holding, Inc. s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 14, 2006, File No. 001-32597)
- 31.1 Certification of CEO pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- 31.2 Certification of CFO pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- 32.1 Certification of CEO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- 32.2 Certification of CFO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.